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Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages
4 to 75, which comprises the consolidated statements of financial position of the Group at 31 December
2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, and the statements of financial position of the Company at 31
December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, and the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statements of changes in equity and the consolidated
statements of cash flows of the Group for each of the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and
the six months ended 30 June 2024 (the “Relevant Periods"), and a summary of material accounting
policies and other explanatory information (together the “Consolidated Financial Statements”), issued in
connection with the initial listing of shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") (the “Initial Listing”).

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements gives, for its specific purpose and on the basis of
preparation as set out in Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the financial
position of the Company at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, and the Group's financial
performance and cash flows for each of the Relevant Periods in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance, the applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules and
the basis of preparation as set out in Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, and for such internal
control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited 1
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the directors of
Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Financial Statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a auditor's
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Consolidated Financial
Statements,

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Consolidated Financial Statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Consolidated Financial Statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the Consolidated Financial Statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the directors of

Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

We also provide the directors of the Company with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

Restriction On Use

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared for the the Initial Listing of the Company's shares on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. As a result, the Consolidated Financial Statements may not be

suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the Company’s directors and should not be
used by other parties.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai

Hong Kong

Date: 30 December 2024

The engagement director of Forvis Mazars CPA
Limited on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

She Shing Pang

Practising Certificate number: P05510



Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Revenue 5 337,608 367,297 426,545 192,076 146,086
Cost of sales (91,010) (94,107) (105,678) (46,522) (41,123)
Gross profit 246,598 273,190 320,867 145,554 104,963
Other income 6(a) 8,505 11,793 13,474 10,375 12,755
Other (losses) gains, net 6(b) (7,906) (84,369) 390 (2,042) (344)
Selling and distribution
expenses (63,808) (79,002) (102,578) (44,852) (48,083)
Administrative and other
operating expenses (18,425) (16,873) (24,249) (11,836) (12,131)
Interests on lease liabilities (117) (375) (332) (176) (144)
Listing expenses (10,722) (5,951) (12,951) (5,842) (5,317)
Profit before tax 7 154,125 98,413 194,621 91,181 51,699
Income tax expenses 10 (34,455) (10,891) (35,277) (13,923) (6,418)
Profit for the year/period 119,670 87,622 159,344 77,258 45,281
Other comprehensive (loss)
income
Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on
consolidation (3,540) 8,194 3,492 5,742 2,849
Total comprehensive income
for the year/period 116,130 95,716 162,836 83,000 48,130



Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
At 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024

At 31 December At 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2024
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 - 4,100 4,100 4,100
Property, plant and equipment 14 5,853 5,406 4,201 4,961
Right-of-use assets 15 1,175 7,297 5,625 5,816
Deferred tax assets 23 2,017 23,176 16,850 16,177
9,045 39,979 30,776 31,054
Current assets
Inventories 16 24,469 69,364 62,298 63,023
Trade and other receivables 17 76,703 73,246 77,327 60,203
Contract assets 18 25,939 28,154 37,056 52,959
Cash and cash equivalents 19 152,656 192,838 262,560 295,607
279,767 363,602 439,241 471,792
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 39,750 36,829 36,900 31,560
Lease liabilities 21 1,027 2,783 2,405 3,017
Provisions 22 - 17,952 - -
Income tax payables 11,321 14,114 17,211 7,039
Dividends payables 33,990 80,000 - -
86,088 151,678 56,516 41,616
Net current assets 193,679 211,924 382,725 430,176
Total assets less current liabilities 202,724 251,903 413,501 461,230
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 21 200 4,663 3,425 3,024
NET ASSETS 202,524 247,240 410,076 458,206
Capital and reserves
Share capital 24(a) - -* -* =
Reserves 25 202,524 247,240 410,076 458,206
TOTAL EQUITY 202,524 247,240 410,076 458,206

* Represent amount less than RMB1,000.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 4 to 75 (the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) for the years
ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the six months ended 30 June 2024 (the “Relevant Periods”) were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 December 2024 and signed on its behalf by

Wang Ping Cui Juan
(signed by Wang Ping as her lawful attorney)
Director Director



Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Statements of Financial Position
At 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024

At 31 December At 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2024
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Non-current asset
Investment in a subsidiary 24(b) 67 67 67 67
Current assets
Prepayments - 392 86 907
Amount due from a subsidiary 24(c) 30,000 85,000 10,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents 5,224 2,923 4,450 6,815
35,224 88,315 14,536 7,722
Current liabilities
Accruals - 309 3,302 707
Amount due to a subsidiary 24(c) 285 7,287 9,816 9,816
Dividends payables 33,990 80,000 - -
34,275 87,596 13,118 10,523
Net current assets (liabilities) 949 719 1,418 (2,801)
NET ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 1,016 786 1,485 (2,734)
Capital and reserves
Share capital 24(a) - -* -* ¥
Reserves 24(d) 1,016 786 1,485 (2,734
TOTAL EQUITY (DEFICIT) 1,016 786 1,485 (2,734)

* Represent amount less than RMB1,000.

The statements of financial position of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and
the six months ended 30 June 2024 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 30 December 2024 and signed on its behalf by

Wang Ping Cui Juan !
(signed by Wang Ping as her lawful attorney)
Director Director



Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

At 1 January 2021

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss) income

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on
consolidation

Total comprehensive (loss) income for
the year

Transactions with owners

Contributions and distributions
Dividends (Note 12)

Appropriation to statutory reserve

Total transactions with owners

At 31 December 2021

At 1 January 2022

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on
consolidation

Total comprehensive income for the
year

Transactions with owners
Contributions and distributions

Dividends (Note 12)

Total transactions with owners

At 31 December 2022

* Represent amount less than RMB1,000.

Reserves
Share Capital Translation Statutory Accumulated
capital reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
(Note 24(a)) (Note 25(a)) (Note 25(b)) (Note 25(c))
-* 67 (763) 7,463 140,627 147,394
- - - - 119,670 119,670
- - (3,540) - - (3,540)
- - (3,540) - 119,670 116,130
- . - - (61,000) (61,000)
- - - 2,391 (2,391) -
- - - 2,391 (63,391) (61,000)
-* 67 (4,303) 9,854 196,906 202,524
-* 67 (4,303) 9,854 196,906 202,524
- - - - 87,522 87,522
- - 8,194 - - 8,194
- - 8,194 - 87,522 95,716
- - - - (51,000) (51,000)
(51,000) (51,000)
-* 67 3,891 9,854 233,428 247,240



Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

Reserves
Share Capital Translation Statutory Accumulated
capital reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(Note 24(a)) (Note 25(a)) (Note 25(b)) (Note 25(c))
At 1 January 2023 -* 67 3,891 9,854 233,428 247,240
Profit for the year - - - - 159,344 159,344

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on

consolidation - - 3,492 - - 3,492
Total comprehensive income for

the year - - 3,492 - 159,344 162,836
At 31 December 2023 —-'~ *67 _T'383 ﬂ M ﬂ
At 1 January 2023 - 67 3,891 9,854 233,428 247,240
Profit for the period (unaudited) - - - - 77,258 77,258

Other comprehensive income

(unaudited)

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on

consolidation - - 5,742 - - 5,742
Total comprehensive income for

the period (unaudited) - - 5,742 - 77,258 83,000
At 30 June 2023 (unaudited) e S S—— o PO, MU ____RORAD
At 1 January 2024 -+ 67 7,383 9,854 392,772 410,076
Profit for the period - - - - 45,281 45,281

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on

consolidation - - 2,849 . - - 2,849
Total comprehensive income for

the period - - 2,849 - 45,281 48,130
At 30 June 2024 - 67 10,232 9,854 438,053 458,206

* Represent amount less than RMB1,000,



Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (Unaudited)
Profit before tax 154,125 98,413 194,621 91,181 51,699
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets 3,571 4,811 4,904 2,532 1,969
Interests on lease liabilities 17 375 332 176 144
Gain on lease termination (5) - - - -
Interest income (477) (718) (2,187) (852) (1,554)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment, net - 90 16 7 -
Write-down of inventories, excluding milk
powder products 5,910 2,909 3,689 388 389
Write-down of milk powder products - 17,699 - - -
Provision of inventories, excluding milk
powder products - - 2,155 - -
Provision for (Reversal of) inventories loss
on milk powder products - 20,687 (415) - (142)

Changes in input valued-added taxes

(“VAT) arising from reversal of (provision

for) inventories loss on milk powder

products - 4,990 (53) - (18)
Provision for loss allowance on deposits

paid to the Ausnutria Group (as defined in

Note 22) - 20,149 - - -
Provision for (Reversal of) onerous

contracts - 17,952 (5,000) - -
Provision for (Reversal of) loss allowances

on trade receivables, net 1,538 (61) 174 1,214 246
Write-down of other receivables “ 4 207 29 -
Exchange differences 730 (373) 2,124 3,829 696

Operating cash inflows before changes in
working capital 165,509 186,927 200,567 98,504 53,429

Changes in working capital:

Inventories 9,493 (86,190) (27,656) (21,050) (972)
Trade and other receivables (21,005) (16,635) 15,687 - 25,986 16,878
Contract assets (21,699) (2,215) (8,902) (24,458) (15,903)
Trade and other payables 11,393 (8,321) (3,274) 4,794 (5,322)
Cash generated from operations 143,691 73,566 176,422 83,776 48,110
Income tax paid (49,697) (29,257) (25,854) (14,279) (15,917)
Net cash from operating activities 93,994 44,309 150,568 69,497 32,193




Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(Unaudited)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received a77 718 2,187 852 1,654
Payment for purchase of property, plant and
equipment (996) (1,196) (205) (193) (1,095)
Payment for purchase of intangible assets - (3,690) (410) - -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment - 29 - - -
Net cash (used in) from investing
activities (519) (4,139) 1,572 659 459
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of lease liabilities (2,179) (3,190) (3,454) (1,693) (1,614)
Interests on lease liabilities (117) (375) (332) (176) (144)
Dividends paid (27,010) (4,990) (80,000) - -
Net cash used in financing activities (29,306) (8,555) (83,786) (1,869) (1,758)
Net increase in cash and
cash equivalents 64,169 31,615 68,354 68,287 30,894
Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the reporting period 92,757 162,656 192,838 192,838 262,560
Effect of exchange rate changes, net (4,270) 8,567 1,368 1,913 2,153
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the reporting period, represented by
cash on hand, at banks and assets with
similar nature as cash 152,656 192,838 262,560 263,038 295,607
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Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION AND REORGANISATION

Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability on 21 January 2019. The address of the Company's registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company's principal place of business is situated at 2408, World-wide House, 19 Des Voeux Road Central,
Central, Hong Kong and the Group's headquarter is situated at Building 8 Lane 706, Wuxing Road, Pudong
New Area, Shanghai, the People's Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the subsidiaries of the Company (the
Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in sales,
including marketing, selling and distributing, of nutritional products.

At the date of approving the Consolidated Financial Statements, the immediate and ultimate holding
company of the Company is Far-East Fortune Management (China) Co., Ltd. (‘Far-East Fortune"), which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Wang Ping (the “Ultimate Controlling Party” or “Mr. Wang").

Pursuant to a group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) as summarised in Note 32, which was completed
on 28 March 2019, as detailed in the paragraph headed “"Reorganisation” of the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Group Structure” of the prospectus (the “Prospectus”) issued in connection with the
initial listing (the “Initial Listing”) on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange”), the Company became the holding company of the entities now comprising the Group.

At the date of approving the Consolidated Financial Statements, the particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries, which are private limited liability companies, of which the Company has direct or indirect
interests, are as follows:

Attributable
equity interests
Place of Date of Registered/ held by Principal
Name of subsidiary Incorporation incorporation Issued capital the Company activities
Directly held
Bk WA (PE ) AR The BVI 18 August 2009 United States 100% Investment holding
Hontat Management Consulting (China) Dollars (*US$")
Ltd. ("Hontat Management™) (Note i) 10,100
Indirectly held
#0% W 4% IR AT P F) Hong Kong 6 June 2006 Hong Kong Dollars 100% Investment holding
Numans Holdings Limited (“Numans HK?) ("HK$") 200 ) and holding
intellectual properties
Numans (Global) Sales Limited (“Numans Republic of 16 January 2014 US$50 100% Sales of nutritional
Sales”) (Note i) Seychelles products
LUl B 5T 4 A A 6) The PRC 12 November RMB1,000,000 ; 100% Import of raw
Shanghai Rujian International Trading Co., 2002 materials
Ltd. (“Rujian International”) (Note iii)
R R (L) EHAMAG The PRC 20 December HK$5,000,000 100% Sales of nutritional
Gold Nemans (Shanghai) Foods Co., 2010 products
Limited (“Gold Nemans”)
(Note iii)
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Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION AND REORGANISATION (CONTINUED)

Attributable
equity interests
Place of Date of Registered/ held by the
Name of subsidiary Incorporation incorporation Issued capital Company Principal activities
Indirectly held
ik (ki) B4R DARAS The PRC 6 April 2011 HK$5,000,000 100% Sales of nutritional
Hontat (Shanghai) Nutritional Food Co., products
Ltd. ("Hontat Nutritional”) (Note iij)
LR K LA TR ) The PRC 9 November RMB10,000,000 100% Sales of nutritional
Shanghal Aumay Dairy Company Limited 2017 products
("Aumay Dairy")
(Nofes i & i)

Set forth below is the information of the financial statements, as prepared in accordance with respective

local financial reporting standards, of the Company's subsidiaries that have been audited and fall into
the Relevant Periods.

Subsidiary Financial period Auditors
Numans HK Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 Forvis Mazars CPA Limited, Certified Public
Accountants, Hong Kong (Note iv)
Rujian Year ended 31 December 2021 iR mE s AEE T
International (Shanghai Ruitong Certified Public Accountants)
(Note iii)
Years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 e RIS e BRI ET RS 1K) B E B4 Fr

(Zhong Shen Zhong Huan Certified Public
Accountants LLP Shanghai Free Trade Zone
Branch) (Note iii)

Gold Nemans Year ended 31 December 2021 i e AR ST
(Shanghai Ruitong Certified Public Accountants)
(Note i)
Years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 th g IR G AT T (M i S 0k 38 I 4y B

(Zhang Shen Zhong Huan Certified Public
Accountants LLP Shanghai Free Trade Zone Branch)

(Note iij)
Hontat Year ended 31 December 2021 it A
Nutritional (Shanghai Ruitong Certified Public Accountants)
(Note iii)
Years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 thg RIS AT R A k) B E EE 5 A
(Zhong Shen Zhong Huan Certified Public
Accountants LLP Shanghai Free Trade Zone Branch)
(Note iii)
Aumay Dairy Years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 EP%Eiﬁ@%i—ﬁﬂi%ifﬁﬁﬁ(#ﬁ}k{&ﬁé{k)hiﬁﬁ%l&ﬁﬁﬁ

(Zhong Shen 2Zhong Huan Certified Public
Accountants LLP Shanghai Free Trade Zone Branch)
(Note iii)
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Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND REORGANISATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

() No statutory audited financial statements have been prepared by Hontat Management and Numans Sales for the
period from its date of incorporation to the date of this report as they are not required to issue audited financial
statements under relevant statutory requirements at their respective places of incorporation.

(i) No statutory audited financial statements have been prepared for Aumay Dairy for the year ended 31 December
2021 as itis not a mandatory requirement for issuance of audited financial statements under the relevant statutory
requirement at its place of incorporation.,

(iii)  The English names of the above companies/auditors are stated by the directors of the Company at their best
effort to translate the Chinese names as these names have not been registered officially in English.

(iv) Forvis Mazars CPA Limited was formerly known as Mazars CPA Limited,

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, as more fully explained in the paragraph headed “Reorganisation” of the
section headed "History, Reorganisation and Group Structure” of the Prospectus, the Company became
the holding company of the entities now comprising the Group on 28 March 2019. The entities now
comprising the Group were under the common control of the Ultimate Controlling Party before and after
the Reorganisation. Accordingly, for the purpose of this report, the Consolidated Financial Statements has
been prepared on a consolidated basis by applying the principles of merger accounting as if the
Reorganisation had been completed at the beginning of the Relevant Periods.

The consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statements of changes in equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows of the Group for the
Relevant Periods include the results and cash flows of all companies now comprising the Group from the
earliest date presented or since the date when the subsidiaries and/or businesses first came under the
common control of the Ultimate Controlling Party, where this is a shorter period. The consolidated
statements of financial position of the Group at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024 have
been prepared to present the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries using the existing book values from
the Ultimate Controlling Party’s perspective. No adjustments are made to reflect fair values, or to recognise
any new assets or liabilities as a result of the Reorganisation.

Statement of compliance

The Consolidated Financial Statements has been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA"), which collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA. The Consolidated Financial Statements
also complies with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

The HKICPA has issued a number of new/revised HKFRSs during the Relevant Periods. For the purpose
of the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group has consistently adopted all those
new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to its operations and are effective throughout the Relevant Periods.
The adoption of those new/revised HKFRSs does not have any significant impact on the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

A summary of material accounting policies adopted by the Group in preparing the Consolidated Financial
Statements is set out in Note 3.
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Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements is the historical
cost basis.

Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements comprises the financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries for the Relevant Periods. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as that of the Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Changes in ownership interests

Changes in the Group's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest determined at the date when control is lost and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are
accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the holding company had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to
the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as appropriate
from the date when control is lost.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company'’s statements of financial position, investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss (if any). The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an individual basis,
ifit is higher than the recoverable amount. The result of the subsidiary is accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Repairs and maintenance
are charged to the profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment losses of property, plant and
equipment over their estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on which they are available for use
and after taking into account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. Where parts of an
item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

Buildings : 20 years
Leasehold improvements 1 year to 3 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 years to 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 years to 10 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from being indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Impairment assessments for intangible assets are set out in the accounting policy “Impairment of other assets”
below.

Patent

The initial cost of acquiring a patent is capitalised. Patent with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows
from the financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises the
financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and an associated liability for amounts it may have
to pay.

Financial assets (except for trade and other receivables without a significant financing component which are
initially measured at their transaction price) are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade and other receivables are initially measured at their
transaction price.
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Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets {Continued)

Recognition and derecognition (Continued)

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at amortised cost; (i) debt investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"); (iii) equity investment measured at
FVOCI; or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the Group's business model for managing
the financial assets and the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing
them, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first interim reporting
period following the change in the business model.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as FVPL;

(i)  itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

(if)  its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade and other receivables, contract assets and cash
and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities
Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at
FVPL, transaction costs that are direct attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables and dividends payables. All financial liabilities,
except for financial liabilities at FVPL, are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in
which case they are stated at cost.
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Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL") on financial assets that are measured
at amortised cost. Except for the specific treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial asset
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the
expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on the following
one or more shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information;

(ii) hature of financial instruments;

(iii) nature of collateral (if any);

(iv) nature, size and industry of debtors;
(v) geographical location of debtors; and

(vi) external credit risk ratings (if available).

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument's credit risk
and loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance are recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full if the financial asset meets any of the following criteria:

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that
a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. In particular,
the following information is taken into account in the assessment;

C the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or interest on the due dates;

0 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument's external or internal credit
rating (if available);

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

. actual or expected changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have or

may have a significant adverse effect on the debtor's ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial

instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due,

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;
(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and
(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,

reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and contract assets without significant financing components or otherwise for which the
Group applies the practical expedient not to account for the significant financing components, the Group applies
a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at
each reporting date based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
fo the debtors and the economic environment.

The expected loss rate used is calculated for each categorised customers' portfolio based on actual credit loss
experience over the past years and adjusted for current and forward-looking factors to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the historical data has been collected, current

conditions and the Group’s estimate on future economic conditions over the expected lives of trade receivables
and contract assets.
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Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganisation;

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

(H the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit
losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering the
contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group expects no significant
recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal
advice, if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand, at banks and assets with similar nature as cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is sales of nutritional products.

Identification of performance obligations
At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the customer either:

(a) a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or
(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of
transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

(a) the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of being distinct); and
(b) the Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable from other

promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the context of
the contract).

Timing of revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised

good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control
of that asset,

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation
and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group

has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining when the transfer of control
occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical possession, right
to payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue from sales of nutritional products is recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains the

control of the promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to
customers and the fitle is passed.
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Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e. the customer or the Group is provided with
a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer), in determining the
transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised consideration for the effects of the time value of money. The
effect of the significant financing component is recognised as an interest income or interest expense separately
from revenue from contracts with customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate with the rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and its customer at contract inception by reference to, where
appropriate, the interest rate implicit in the contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the cash selling price of
the goods or services to the amount paid in advance or arrears), the prevailing market interest rates, the
Group's borrowing rates and other relevant creditworthiness information of the customers of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the
consideration for the effect of the significant financing component if the period of financing is one year or less.

Variable consideration

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to a
customer. The variable consideration is estimated by using either the expected-value or the most-likely-
amount method whichever is better to predict the entitled amount. The estimated variable consideration is
then included in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised of the contract will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

() Marketing incentives

The Group's marketing incentives include penalty imposed on and incentives offered to its selected
customers. Included in the Group’s marketing incentives, there are gross profit margin guarantees,
trade discounts, volume-based rebates and penalty, and/or other price incentives (together, the
“Marketing Incentives”). The Group estimates the Marketing Incentives using the expected-value
method and assesses whether the estimated variable consideration is constrained with reference to
the customers' historical records on volume-based rebates and penalty, other marketing incentives
entitlement and accumulated purchases to date. Any significant estimation variances will be analysed
and taken into consideration in the current estimation and assessment. Typically, the estimated
consideration is not constrained.

(i) Refund liabilities

The Group grants customers with the right to return the products. At the point of sale, a refund liability
and a corresponding adjustment to revenue is recognised for those products expected to be returned. At
the same time, the Group recognises a right to returned goods asset and a corresponding adjustment to
cost of sales in respect of the right to recover the product when customers exercise their right of return.
With reference to its historical experience and its expectation of future returns as adjusted for current
relevant information, the Group estimates the number of returns using the expected-value method and
assesses whether the estimated variable consideration is constrained. Any significant estimation
variances will be analysed and taken into consideration in the current estimation and assessment.
Typically, the estimated consideration is not constrained.

During the Relevant Periods, there are no significant product return from customers which is subject to
refund liabilities.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the

Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to
a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it
recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
specified goods or services fo be provided by the other party.

The Group is acting as a principal as the Group controls the nutritional products before the goods are
transferred to its customers and its performance obligation is to transfer those goods to its customers.

Revenue from other sources

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net
of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration
or before payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as
a receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to an amount of
consideration that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract
is presented as a contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A
receivable is the Group's right to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

For the business of sales of nutritional products , the right to an amount of consideration becomes unconditional
only when the consideration is billed subsequent to customers’ acceptance on promised goods and the amount
of consideration are confirmed between the Group and its customers. During the Relevant Periods, contract
assets are recognised in regard to the unbilled revenue.

Contract liabilities in relation to the refundable receipts in advance are reported under “Other Payables”.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The Company and
majority of its subsidiaries have RMB as their functional currency. The Consolidated Financial Statements is
presented in RMB and rounded to the nearest thousands unless otherwise indicated, which is the Group’s
presentation currency.

Foreign currency fransactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

The results and financial position of all of the group entities that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

o  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the end of the reporting period,;

e  income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are translated
at average exchange rate;

» all resulting exchange differences arising from the above translation and exchange differences arising
from a monetary item that forms part of the Group's net investment in a foreign operation are recognised
as a separate component of equity;

o onthe disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation and a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to the foreign operation that is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate component of equity is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised; and

e onthe partial disposal of the Group's interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is re-attributed to the non-
controlling interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase
and, where applicable, other costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition, is calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period
in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value
and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which the write-down or loss occurs.
The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that the Group'’s intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and the Company's investment in a subsidiary may be impaired or impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-
generating unit).

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset or the cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognised as an expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount of the asset or the cash-generating unit that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods. Reversal of impairment
loss is recognised as income in profit or loss immediately.

Provision

Provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. Expenditures for which a
provision has been recognised are charged against the related provision in the period in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provision is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount provided is the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. Where the Group expects a
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as a provision. Onerous
contracts are considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.
The Group recognises any impairment loss that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract before a
separate provision for onerous contracts are established.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it
is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as a deduction
from the carrying amount of the relevant asset and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments,
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease

payments associated with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components, and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as a lease separately. The Group

allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone

price of the lease component and, where applicable, the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate component are considered to be part of the
total consideration that is allocated to the separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises:

(a) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) - any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;
(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying asset,

restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation is
provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the right-
of-use asset (unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease
term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option (if any) — in
which case depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of the underlying asset) as follows:

Leased properties 2 to 5 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the contract.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments for the
right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date:

(a) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate:

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an

option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate when there are changes to the lease payments
arising from a change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount rate when there is a change in the residual
value guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case of a change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in floating interest rates, the Group remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-
of-use asset. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction
in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the remeasurement
in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

(a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and
(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for

the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease

modification,

(a) the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract on the basis of relative stand-alone
price as described above;

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the modified contract;

(c) the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate over the revised lease term;

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease, the Group accounts for the

remeasurement of the lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to
reflect the partial or full termination of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial
or full termination of the lease in profit or loss; and

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease liability by
making a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

The Group has applied the practical expedient provided in Amendments to HKFRS 16: COVID-19-Related
Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 and does not assess whether eligible rent concessions occurring as
a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease modification. The Group accounts for any change
in lease payments resulting from the rent concession the same way it would account for the change applying
HKFRS 16 if the change were not a lease modification.

The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and only if all of the following conditions are met;

(a) the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

(b) any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

(c) there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient consistently to all eligible rent concessions with similar
characteristics and in similar circumstances.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period
in which the associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the employees of the Group’s entities established in
the PRC are required to participate in defined contribution retirement plans organised by local governments.
Contributions to these plans are expensed in profit or loss as incurred and other than these monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the payment of retirement benefits to its employees.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation
The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are non-

assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of each reporting period,

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of each reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Consolidated Financial
Statements. However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting

profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences is
not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising from an investment in a subsidiary, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group, that is defined as:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:
() has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a holding company of the
Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each holding
company, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to a holding company of the Group.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)
Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(c) dependants of that person or that person's spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture
includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the Consolidated Financial
Statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to Group’s most senior
executive management for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management of the Group
in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements. They affect the application of the Group's
accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They
are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also
affects future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty:

(i) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
The management of the Group determines the estimated useful lives of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of the relevant assets of similar nature and functions. The estimated useful lives could be different
as a result of technical innovations which could affect the related depreciation charges included in
profit or loss.

(i) Impairment of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The management of the Group determines whether the Group's intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets are impaired when an indication of impairment exists. This
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, which is equal to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. Estimating the value in use requires the management to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Any impairment will be charged to profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued):

(ifi)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Estimation and constraint of variable consideration

The sales contracts include rights to return/refund, gross profit margin guarantees, volume-based
rebates and penalty and/or other marketing incentives that give rise to variable consideration. In
estimating the variable consideration, the Group applies either the expected-value or the most-likely-
amount method whichever better predicts the entitied amount.

The Group determines that using the expected-value method by categorising variable considerations
into rights to return/refund, gross profit margin guarantees, volume-based rebates and penalty and/or
other marketing incentives is appropriate to estimate the variable consideration, considering the factors
of (i) large number of contracts that have similar characteristics and (i) there are more than one
thresholds for respective categories of variable considerations contained in the contracts.

Before including any estimated amount of variable consideration in the transaction price, the Group

considers whether it is constrained based on the historical experience, business forecast and the current
economic conditions.

Provision for inventories losses

The management of the Group reviews the inventory ageing analysis periodically and where applicable,
makes allowances for inventories that are identified as obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable
or suitable for use in production. The Group carries out the inventory review on a product-by-product
basis and makes allowances at the end of each reporting period by reference to management’s
estimation of the net realisable value based on the latest market prices and current market conditions.

Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowances for trade and other receivables and
contract assets by using various inputs and assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss
rates. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group's historical
information, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying amount of trade and other receivables and contract assets.

Income taxes

Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes and deferred taxation.
There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain where
the final tax outcome of these matters may be different from the amounts that were initially recorded

and such differences will affect the income tax and deferred tax provision in the period in which such
determination is made.

Provision for onerous contracts

The Group’s management recognised the provision for onerous contracts with their best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Future changes in HKFRSs
At the date of approving the Consolidated Financial Statements, the HKICPA has issued the following
new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the Relevant Periods, which the Group has not early

adopted.
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability ()
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurements of
Financial Instruments @
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Volume 11 @
Accounting Standards
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements ©)
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures®
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture @

U] Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
) The effective date to be determined

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in future
periods will have any material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company have determined that the Group has only one operating and reportable
segment throughout the Relevant Periods, as the Group manages its business as a whole as the
businesses of sales of nutritional products and executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision-makers of the Group, regularly review the internal financial reports on the same basis
for the purposes of allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group. Segment information is
not presented accordingly.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers
The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is principally engaged in the sales of

nutritional products in the PRC during the Relevant Periods. The Group earns substantially all of its
revenue from external customers attributed to its sales to the PRC.
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4, SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(b) Specified non-current assets

The specified non-current assets information is based on the locations of assets and included the Group’s
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (the "Specified Non-current
Assets”). All of the Group’s Specified Non-current Assets were located in the PRC.

Information about major customers

Details of the customers (including entities under common control) individually accounting for 10% or more
of total revenue of the Group during the Relevant Periods are as follows. The identities of the below
customers were same as the identities set forth in the section headed "Business” of the Prospectus.

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
RMB'000 . RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
(Unaudited)

Sales of nutritional products
Customer A 76,287 52,706 Note 21,352 21,205
Customer B 72,861 104,151 137,180 66,566 49,996
Shanghai Yicunxin 38,205 54,662 Note 21,343 Note
Customer D Note Note Note Note 18,383

Note: These customers contributed less than 10% of the Group’s total revenue in respective periods under
the Relevant Periods.

5. REVENUE

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Unaudited)
Revenue from contracts with
customers within HKFRS 15
At a point in time
Salesor puitilianal prodijcts 337,608 367,207 426,545 192,076 146,086

Note: The revenue recognised for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the six months
ended 30 June 2023 and 2024, which was included in the contract liabilities in relation to refundable
receipts in advance at the beginning of each reporting period, was approximately RMB731,000,
RMB645,000, RMB221,000, RMB221,000 (unaudited) and RMB308,000, respectively (Note 20).

Contract liabilities represent advance payments received from the customers for goods that have

not been transferred to the customers. The contract liabilities fluctuated during the Relevant Periods
due to fluctuation in sales orders with advance payments,
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6. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER (LOSSES) GAINS, NET
Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
Note  RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(Unaudited)
6(a). Other income
Interest income 477 718 2,187 852 1,554
Government grants 6(i) 7,565 9,308 10,966 9,268 10,776
Compensation from
litigation claims 6(ii) - 1,306 60 - -
Compensation from
customers 6(iii) 352 374 164 158 205
Gain on a lease
termination 5 - - - -
Sundry income 106 87 97 97 220
8,505 11,793 13,474 10,375 12,755
6(b). Other (losses) gains,
net
Exchange (loss) gain,
net (458) 50 1,163 (404) 131

Loss on disposal of

property, plant and

equipment, net - (90) (16) ) -
Write-down of

inventories, excluding

milk powder products 16 (5,910) (2,909) (3,689) (388) (389)
Write-down of milk
powder products 22 - (17,699) - - -

Provision for

inventories, excluding

milk powder products 16 - - (2,155) - -
(Provision for) Reversal

of inventories loss on

milk powder products 22 - (20,687) 415 - 142
Changes in input VAT

arising from (reversal

of) provision for

inventories loss on

milk powder products 22 - (4,990) 53 - 18
Provision for loss

allowance on deposits

paid to the Ausnutria

Group (as defined in

Note 22) 22 - (20,149) - - -
(Provision for) Reversal
of onerous contracts 22 - (17,952) 5,000 - -

(Provision for) Reversal
of loss allowances on

trade receivables, net 28 (1,538) 61 (174) (1,214) (246)
Write-down of other

receivables - (4) (207) (29) -

(7,908) (84,369) 390 (2,042) (344)

599 (72,576) 13,864 8,333 12,411
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6. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER (LOSSES) GAINS, NET (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i) Government grants represent fiscal supports that the relevant government authorities offered to the
Group’s entities operate in Shanghai, the PRC and carried out its businesses in designated tax
incentives zones in the PRC. There was no unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to the
government grants.

(i)~ These represented income from litigation claims regarding to the Group's registered trademarks.

(i)  Compensation income from customers represents penalty levied on customers for unauthorised
distribution of goods which were prohibited under the distribution agreements signed between the
Group's entities and the customers.

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging:

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Staff costs (including
directors’ emoluments)
Salaries, discretionary bonus,
allowances and other benefits
in kind 11,788 12,170 14,426 7,082 5,080
Contributions to defined
contribution plans 1,840 2,010 2,174 1,165 1,095
13,628 14,180 16,600 8,247 6,175
Other items
Auditors’ remuneration 40 40 124 60 60

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment (charged to
“selling and distribution
expenses” and "administrative
and other operating expenses",
as appropriate) 1,435 1,524 1,394 803 335

Depreciation of right-of-use
assets (charged to “selling and
distribution expenses” and
“administrative and other
operating expenses", as

appropriate) 2,136 3,287 3,510 1,729 1,634
Expenses recognised under
short-term leases 15 38 74 26 37
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 January 2019. Mr. Wang Ping was appointed
as an executive director of the Company on the same day. Ms. Cui Juan (“Ms. Cui") and Mr. Chan Hok
Leung were appointed as an executive director and a non-executive director of the Company, respectively,
on 27 March 2019. Ms. Yim Wing Yee, Mr, Lau Kwok Fai Patrick and Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company on 5 December 2024,

Certain directors of the Company received remuneration from the Group during the Relevant Periods for
their appointment as employees of these entities. The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and
receivable by the directors of the Company during the Relevant Periods are set out below.

Year ended 31 December 2021

Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined
Directors’ benefits in Discretionary  contribution
fees kind bonus plans Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Executive directors :
Mr. Wang Ping - 600 150 112 862
Ms. Cui Juan - 300 50 106 456
Non-executive director
Mr. Chan Hok Leung - - - - -
- 900 200 218 1,318
Year ended 31 December 2022
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined
Directors’ benefits in Discretionary  contribution
fees kind bonus plans Total
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Executive directors
Mr. Wang Ping - 600 150 123 873
Ms. Cui Juan - 300 75 108 483
Non-executive dr'rector‘
Mr. Chan Hok Leung - - - - -
- 900 225 231 1,356
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2023

Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined
Directors’ benefits in Discretionary  contribution
fees kind bonus plans Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Execultive directors
Mr. Wang Ping - 600 144 131 875
Ms. Cui Juan - 300 75 108 483
Non-executive director
Mr. Chan Hok Leung - - - - -
- 900 219 239 1,358
Six months ended 30 June 2023 (Unaudited)
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined
Directors’ benefits in Discretionary  contribution
fees kind bonus plans Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Executive directors
Mr. Wang Ping - 300 75 64 439
Ms. Cui Juan - 150 38 54 242
Non-executive director
Mr. Chan Hok Leung - - - g g
- 450 113 118 681
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

Six months ended 30 June 2024

Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined
Directors’ benefits in Discretionary  contribution
fees kind bonus plans Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Executive directors
Mr. Wang Ping - 300 72 67 439
Ms. Cui Juan - 150 38 54 242
Non-executive director
Mr. Chan Hok Leung - - - . =
- 450 110 121 681

During the Relevant Periods, no remuneration was paid by the Group to any of these directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the Relevant
Periods.
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the Relevant Periods is as follows:

Number of individuals

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024

(Unaudited)
Director 2 2 1 1 1
Non-director 3 3 4 4 4
5 5 5 5 5

Details of the remuneration of the above highest paid non-director individuals are as follows:

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(Unaudited)
Salaries, discretionary bonus,
allowances and other benefits in
kind 6,510 6,179 7,884 3,847 1,474
Contributions to defined contribution
plans 349 362 413 196 225
6,859 6,541 8,297 4,043 1,699

The number of these non-director individuals whose emoluments fell within the following emoluments band is

as follows:
Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
(Unaudited)
Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2 3 3 4
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 - - - 1 -
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 1 1 1 - )

During the Relevant Periods, no remuneration was paid by the Group to any of these highest paid non-director
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There
was no arrangement under which any of these highest paid non-director individuals waived or has agreed to
waive any emoluments during the Relevant Periods.
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10. TAXATION
Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Unaudited)
Current tax
PRC enterprise income tax (“PRC
EIT") 34,293 32,050 28,951 8,561 5,745
Deferred taxation (Note 23)
Origination and changes in temporary
differences 162 (21,159) 6,326 5,362 673
Total income tax expenses for the
year/period 34,455 10,891 35,277 13,923 6,418

The Group entities established in the Cayman Islands and the BVI are exempt from income tax of those
jurisdictions.

The Group's entities established/operated in the PRC are subject to the PRC EIT at a statutory rate of 25%
during the Relevant Periods.

Hong Kong profit tax has not been provided as (i) the entire income generated by the Group's subsidiary in
Hong Kong during the year ended 31 December 2021 was claimed as offshore and (ii) no assessable profit
was generated by the Group in Hong Kong during the Relevant Periods.

Republic of Seychelles profit tax has not been provided as the Group has no business carried out in Republic
of Seychelles for the Relevant Periods. During the Relevant Periods, Numans Sales, being the
Company'subsidiary incorporated in the Republic of Seychelles, carried on its business through receiving
management services from other subsidiaries of the Group by paying management services fees
("Management Services Fees”). The Management Services Fees received by the Company's subsidiaries
were subject to the PRC EIT at a tax rate of 25%.

During the Relevant Periods, Numans HK was subject to the PRC EIT at a tax rate of 10% in relation to the
royalty income received from two subsidiaries establised in the PRC, namely, Gold Nemans and Hontat
Nutritional, (the “Royalty Income”) for granting the right of use of its established trademarks (“4z% " and “#
% 4"), which are registered in the PRC, to Gold Nemans and Hontat Nutritional. The Royalty Income is
offshore in respect of Numans HK under the arrangement between the PRC and the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region “Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to
Taxes on Income”. Accordingly, Numans HK is being provided a relief from double taxation by allowing tax

credits in Hong Kong on the income tax paid by Numans HK in the PRC and Numans HK was not subject to
Hong Kong profit tax.

According to the PRC EIT Law, dividends paid to foreign investors of foreign-invested companies are subject
to withholding tax at a rate of 10%, unless otherwise provided in‘the relevant tax agreements entered into with
the central government of the PRC. During the year ended 31 December 2021, dividends declared by the
Group's subsidiaries established in the PRC were subject to withholding taxes.

39



Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)
Reconciliation of income tax expenses

Year ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(Unaudited)
Profit before tax 154,125 98,413 194,621 91,181 51,699
Income tax at statutory tax rate
applicable in respective tax
jurisdictions 28,444 9,511 32,513 13,563 6,046
Non-deductible expenses 2,434 1,392 1,314 279 214
Tax exempt revenue (5) (1) (25) (7) (3)
Withholding tax on distributable
profits 3,575 - - - -
Unrecognised tax losses - - 1,475 - 161
Unrecognised temporary difference 7 (1) - 88 -
Income tax expenses for the
year/period 34,455 10,891 35,277 13,923 6,418

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

No earnings per share information is presented as its inclusion, for the purpose of the Consolidated Financial

Statements, is not considered meaningful.

12. DIVIDENDS

Year ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2021 2022 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Dividends declared to equity owners
of the Company 61,000 51,000 -

2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)

No dividends per share information is presented as its inclusion, for the purpose of the Consolidated Financial

Statements, is not considered meaningful.
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Patent
RMB’000
Cost
At 1 January 2022 -
Addition 4,100
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 1 January
2024 and 30 June 2024 4,100

In February 2022, Gold Nemans entered into a contract with an independent third party (the “Vendor"),
pursuant to which, Gold Nemans agreed to purchase and the Vendor agreed to sell a patent (the “Patent”)
with a total consideration of RMB4,100,000 (the “Patent Contract"). During the year ended 31 December
2022, Gold Nemans has paid 90% of the total consideration. The remaining 10% was settled in July 2023
after the legal title is officially transferred to Gold Nemans (Note 20 (vi)).

The administrative process for registration of the legal title of the Patent was in progress during the period
from February 2022 to June 2023. According to the Patent Contract, upon 90% of the total consideration
was paid, Gold Nemans has the exclusive right of use of the Patent before the legal title is officially
transferred and being promised that no other parties except for Gold Nemans has such right to use.

The Patent is acquired for the business of nutritional products. The Group's management is of the opinion
that the Patent has indefinite useful lives as it is transferable and able to renew with minimal cost, which
is therefore carried at cost less accumulated impairment, if any.

The Group carries out impairment test for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives by comparing their
recoverable amounts to their carrying amounts at the end of each reporting period.

The recoverable amount of the Patent with indefinite useful lives were assessed with reference to the
value-in-use calculations using pre-tax cash flow projections which is approved by the Group's
management covering a 3-year period at 31 December 2022 (the “2022's Assessment”), 31 December
2023 (the “2023's Assessment”) and 30 June 2024 (the “June 2024's Assessment”). The significant inputs
into value-in-use calculations are (i) the budgeted gross profits, which are determined based on the past
performance and the expectation of market development on the corresponding products under the Patent:
(ii) a pre-tax discount rate of approximately 13.6% for the 2022's Assessment, 2023’s Assessment and
the June 2024's Assessment to derive the present value of future cash flows; and (iii) a long-term annual
growth rate of approximately 8.1% for the 2022's Assessment, 3.3% for the 2023's Assessment and 4.0%
for the June 2024’s Assessment. The pre-tax discount rate maintained in a stable level due to the
management of the Group considered the adopted pre-tax discount rate can provide a prudent impairment
assessments on the Group's patent in view of (i) the market information in the China's economy and (ii)
the overall financial performance of the Group derived from this patent, which was adjusted by the
consideration of the market information of the pre-tax discount rates from the entities with similar principal
activities as the Group during the respective impairment assessment's periods.

At 31 December 2022, 2023 and 30 June 2024, the management of the Group was of the view that the

Patent with indefinite useful live was not impaired as the recoverable amounts of the patent at the end of
the respective reporting date exceed the carrying amounts.
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14, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Buildings improvements equipment vehicles Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Reconciliation of carrying amount -
year ended 31 December 2021
At 1 January 2021 2,802 73 470 2,947 6,292
Additions - 73 229 694 996
Depreciation (148) (85) (170) (1,032) (1,435)
At 31 December 2021 2,654 61 529 2,609 5,853
Recongiliation of carrying amount -
year ended 31 December 2022
At 1 January 2022 2,654 61 529 2,609 5,853
Additions - - 133 1,063 1,196
Disposals - - - (119) (119)
Depreciation (148) (61) (187) (1,128) (1,524)
At 31 December 2022 2,506 — _475 _2'425 _.5'405
Reconciliation of carrying amount —
year ended 31 December 2023
At 1 January 2023 2,506 - 475 2,425 5,406
Additions - - 205 - 205
Disposals - - (18) - (16)
Depreciation (148) - (132) (1,114) (1,394)
At 31 December 2023 2,358 e ——— __532 _1'311 _4'201
Reconciliation of carrying amount -
six months ended 30 June 2024
At 1 January 2024 2,358 - 532 1,311 4,201
Additions - - - 1,095 1,095
Depreciation (74) - (59) (202) (335)
At 30 June 2024 2,284 - 473 2,204 4,961
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (COTNINUED)

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Buildings improvements equipment vehicles Total
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

At 31 December 2021
Cost 3,296 3,935 2,085 8,424 17,740
Accumulated depreciation (642) (3,874) (1,556) (5,815) (11,887)
Net carrying amount 2,654 61 529 2,609 5,853
At 31 December 2022
Cost 3,296 3,935 2,218 8,293 17,742
Accumulated depreciation (790) (3,935) (1,743) (5,868) (12,336)
Net carrying amount 2,506 - 475 2,425 5,406
At 31 December 2023
Cost 3,296 3,935 2,277 8,293 17,801
Accumulated depreciation (938) (3,935) (1,745) (6,982) (13,600)
Net Carrying amount 2,358 - 532 1,31 1 4,201
At 30 June 2024
Cost 3,296 3,935 2,277 9,388 18,896
Accumulated depreciation (1,012) (3,935) (1,804) (7,184) (13,935)
Net carrying amount 2,284 - 473 2,204 4,961
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leased
properties
RMB’000
Reconciliation of carrying amount
—year ended 31 December 2021
At 1 January 2021 1,919
Additions 1,498
Depreciation (2,136)
Lease termination (106)
At 31 December 2021 178
Reconciliation of carrying amount
—year ended 31 December 2022
At 1 January 2022 1,175
Additions 9,409
Depreciation (3,287)
At 31 December 2022 &
Reconciliation of carrying amount
- year ended 31 December 2023
At 1 January 2023 7,297
Additions 1,838
Depreciation (3,510)
At 31 December 2023 ._..._5'625
Reconciliation of carrying amount
— six months ended 30 June 2024
At 1 January 2024 5,625
Additions 1,825
Depreciation (1,634)
At 30 June 2024 S.£16
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15.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Leased
properties
RMB’000
At 31 December 2021
Cost 5,973
Accumulated depreciation (4,798)
Net carrying amount 1,175
At 31 December 2022
Cost 10,908
Accumulated depreciation (3,611)
Net carrying amount i
At 31 December 2023
Cost 11,247
Accumulated depreciation (5,622)
Net carrying amount ﬂ
At 30 June 2024
Cost 10,566
Accumulated depreciation (4,750)
Net carrying amount 5816

During the Relevant Periods, the initial lease terms of the Group’s various leased properties used for its
daily operations were ranging from 2 to 5 years.

Extension and termination options

The lease contracts of leased properties contain extension or termination options. These options aim to
provide flexibility to the Group in managing the leased assets. The extension option of the leased properties
is normally exercised because the Group does not want to incur additional costs, such as leasehold
improvements, while exercising the termination option is normally unusual unless the Group could replace
the leased properties without significant cost or acquisition of a new property. The Group seldom exercises
an option not previously included in its determination of the lease term, or seldom not to exercises an option
previously included in its determination of the lease term.

During the Relevant Periods, all of lease contracts for leased properties contains an extension or
termination option, in which the total lease payment made amounted to approximately RMB2,311,000,
RMB3,603,000, RMB3,860,000, RMB1,895,000 (unaudited) and RMB1,795,000, respectively,
representing the total cash outflows for lease during the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023
and the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 2024.
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Restriction or covenants

Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless approval is obtained from the lessors, the right-of-use
asset can only be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying
assets. The Group is also required to keep those leased assets in a good state of repair and return the
leased assets in their original condition at the end of the lease.

Commitments under leases
At 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the Group was committed to short-term leases

or low-value asset leases of approximately RMB7,000, RMB80,000, RMB26,000 and RMB24,000,
respectively.

16. INVENTORIES

At 31 December At 30 June
Note 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
Raw materials 11,468 8,482 9,100 7,811
Finished goods 18,911 102,177 115,726 107,395
30,379 110,659 124,826 115,206
Less: Write-down of inventories
(excluding milk powder
products) 6(b) (5,910) (2,909) (3,689) (389)
Write-down of milk powder
products 22 - (17,699) (20,751) (20,809)
Provision for inventories
(excluding milk powder
products) 6(b) - - (2,155) -
Provision for inventories loss on
milk powder products 22 - (20,687) (35,933) (30,985)

24,469 69,364 62,298 63,023
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

At 31 December At 30 June
Note 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade receivables
From third parties 35,982 42,367 32,508 34,190
Less: Loss allowances 28 (2,083) (1,976) (2,150) (2,396)
17(a) 33,899 40,391 30,358 31,794
Other receivables
Marketing Incentives receivables
(Note i) 751 - 2,301 -
Prepaid promotional expenses 1,359 2,502 2,131 3,070
Other prepayments (Note i) 2,564 2,449 824 2,276
Deposits paid to suppliers 26,610 24,772 39,080 17,439
Deposits paid to the Ausnutria
Group 22 10,000 20,149 - -
VAT and other taxes
recoverable - 1,159 468 -
Other deposits and receivables 1,520 1,973 2,165 5,624
42,804 53,004 46,969 28,409
Less: Loss allowances 22828 - (20,149) - -
17(c) 42,804 32,855 46,969 28,409
76,703 73,246 77,327 60,203
Notes:
(0 The amounts due were variable consideration receivables arising from volume-based penalty

imposed on certain customers. The amounts are repayable upon billed.

(i) The amounts at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024 included prepaid listing

expenses of approximately RMB665,000, RMB517,000, RMB86,000 and RMB1,258,000,
respectively.
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

17(a). Trade receivables

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of loss allowances, based on invoice date at the end of each
reporting period is as follows:

At 31 December At 30 June

2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Within 30 days 28,629 36,930 24,744 24,263
31 to 60 days 3,790 1,157 3,738 1,698
61 to 90 days 45 394 41 1,070
Over 90 days 1,435 1,910 1,835 4,763
33,899 40,391 30,358 31,794

At the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of loss allowances,
by due date is as follows:

At 31 December At 30 June

2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Not yet due 28,609 36,582 24,772 24,835
Past due:

Within 30 days 3,191 1,025 3,813 710

31 to 60 days 656 500 1,495 1,645

61 to 90 days 15 384 41 253

Over 90 days 1,428 1,900 237 4,351

5,290 3,809 5,586 6,959

33,899 40,391 30,358 31,794

The Group normally grants credit terms up to 90 days from the date of issuance of invoices.
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17.

17(b).

17(c).

17(d).

18.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Information about the Group’s exposures to credit risks and loss allowances for trade and other receivables
are included in Note 28,

At 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the other receivables were expected to be
recovered within 12 months.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables were denominated in the following
currencies:

At 31 December At 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
RMB 73,874 64,341 73,889 49,879
US$ 1,390 8,905 1,885 7,909
HK$ 1,439 - 1,553 2,415
76,703 73,246 77,327 60,203

CONTRACT ASSETS

At 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, contract assets represent unbilled revenue that
the Group has right to receive consideration for goods transferred but not yet billed because the rights are
conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to the trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the time when the amount of
consideration are finally confirmed between the Group and its customers subsequent to the goods
delivered to the customers.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases both occurred within the same
year) of contract assets within HKFRS 15 during the Relevant Periods are as follows:

Year ended 31 December At 30 June

2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the reporting period 4,240 25,939 28,154 37,056
Unbilled revenue recognised 25,939 28,154 37,056 52,959
Transfer to trade receivables (4,240) (25,939) (28,154) (37,056)
At the end of the reporting period 25,939 28,154 37,056 52,959

At 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the contract assets were expected to be
recovered within 12 months.
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18.

19.

CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Information about the Group’s exposures to credit risks and loss allowances for contract assets are included

in Note 28.

The carrying amounts of the Group's contract assets were denominated in the following currencies:

Six months

ended 30

At 31 December June

2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RMB 13,264 21,021 23,637 33,941
uss$ 12,233 6,458 13,247 18,736
HK$ 442 675 272 282
25,939 28,154 37,056 52,959

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following

currencies:

At 31 December At 30 June

2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

RMB . 104,414 91,653 180,048 187,060
us$ 46,015 100,699 80,141 106,059
HK$ 2,227 486 2,371 2,488
152,656 192,838 262,560 295,607

The Group's cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, at banks and assets with a similar nature as
cash. Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
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20.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
At 31 December At 30 June
Note 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade payables
To third parties 20(i) - 843 = -
Other payables
Contract liabilities — refundable receipts
in advance 20(ii) 645 221 308 212
Marketing Incentives payables 20(iii) 12,253 6,947 5,603 10,680
Salary payables 2,990 2,836 2,685 1,519
Deposits received from distributors 20(iv) 1,611 1,611 1,591 1,431
Due to distributors 20(v) 15,847 11,871 6,636 5,006
Other accruals and other payables 20(vi) 3,476 6,303 10,260 4,054
VAT and other taxes payables 2,928 6,197 9,917 8,658
39,750 35,986 36,900 31,560

Notes:

(1)

(i)

39,750 36,829 36,900 31,560

The trade payables were unsecured, interest-free and with normal credit terms up to 30 days. At the
end of each reporting date, the balances of trade payables were aged within 90 days.

Contract liabilities — refundable receipts in advance

The Group applies the practical expedient and does not disclose information about remaining
performance obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases both occurred within the
same reporting period) of refundable receipts in advance with customers within HKFRS 15 during
the Relevant Periods are as follows:

Six months

ended 30

Year ended 31 December June

2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the reporting period 731 645 221 308
Addition 645 221 308 212
Revenue recognised (Note 5) (731) (645) (221) (308)
At the end of the reporting period 645 221 308 212

The contract liabilities of approximately RMB645,000, RMB221,000, RMB308,000 and RMB212,000
at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, respectively, represented the aggregate
amount of the transaction prices allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied at the
end of each reporting period. The Group expected the transaction prices of approximately
RMB645,000, RMB221,000, RMB308,000 and RMB212,000 at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023
and 30 June 2024, respectively, allocated to the unsatisfied performance obligations will be
recognised as revenue in one year or less when the obligations are performed.
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20.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

The amounts due were variable consideration payables arising from different kinds of the Marketing
Incentives. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable upon billed.

The amounts represent security deposits placed by the Group’s distributors for obtaining rights for
selling the Group’s selected nutritional products in designated distribution channels.

The amounts represent (i) receipts for the goods sold to customers in the regions designated to
distributors through the Group's online store operated on third-party's online platform and (ii)
payables arising from sales of goods in the regions with the Group's designated distributors among

which the Group agreed to pay and the distributors agreed to be compensated in an agreeable
amount.

The amounts (i) at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024 included accrued listing
expenses of approximately nil, RMB1,008,000, RMB4,676,000 and RMB776,000, respectively, and
(i) at 31 December 2022 included payables arising from acquisition of the Patent amounted to
RMB410,000, representing 10% of the total consideration (Note 13).

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other payables were denominated in the following currencies:

RMB
us$
HK$

At 31 December At 30 June

2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
33,842 33,686 30,032 28,422
5,651 3,143 2,654 2,386
257 - 4,214 752
39,750 36,829 36,900 31,560
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21,

LEASE LIABILITIES

Current portion

Non-current portion

Commitments and present value of lease liabilities:

Amounts payable:
Within one year
More than 1 year
but within 2
years

More than 2
years but
within 5 years

Less: future finance
charges

Total lease liabilities

At 31 December At 30 June

2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

1,027 2,783 2,405 3,017

200 4,663 3,425 3,024
1,227 7,446

Lease payments

5,830 6,041

Present value of lease payments

At 31 December At 30 June At 31 December At 30 June

2021 2022 2023 2024 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
1,071 3,065 2,618 3,214 1,027 2,783 2,405 3,017
203 1,658 1,788 2,100 200 1,476 1,670 2,010

- 3,354 1,806 1,032 - 3,187 1,755 1,014

1,274 8,077 6,212 6,346 1,227 7,446 5,830 6,041
(47) (631) (382) (305) - - < -

1,227 7,446 5,830 6,041 1,227 7,446 5,830 6,041

At 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the weighted average effective interest rates of
the lease liabilities of the Group were approximately 5.44%, 5.01%, 4.79% and 4.62% per annum,

respectively.
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22,

PROVISIONS
RMB'000

Obligations under an onerous contract
At 1 January 2022 =
Additional provision 17,952
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 17,952
Reversal of the provision for onerous contract (Note 22(iii)) (5,000)
Transfer to provision on inventories loss on milk powder products and reversal

of input VAT (Note 22(i)) (12,952)
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and 30 June 2024 -
Current portion
At 31 December 2022 17,952

At 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2024 -

On 22 December 2021, one of the Company's subsidiaries, Gold Nemans, entered into an agreement with
a Ausnutria Group (the “"Ausnutria Group”), who is carrying out business in the PRC, for purchasing series
models of milk powder products under the brand licensed by the Ausnutria Group (the “Original
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Original Agreement, Gold Nemans had committed predetermined tonnages
of milk powder products starting from the financial year of 2022. Upon entering into the Original Agreement,
Gold Nemans paid a deposit of RMB10,000,000 to the Ausnutria Group (Note 17) and the milk powder
products were delivered to Gold Nemans (the “Original Batch of Milk Powders”) with further settlement
during the period from January 2022 to September 2022.

In April 2022, it was announced that a batch of the milk powder products of the Ausnutria Group
manufactured back in February 2020 was found to contain vanillin (F#fi#) during a sample testing
conducted by the relevant authority in the PRC (the "Incidental Event"). Having the same brand name of

milk powder products, the sales of Gold Nemans’s milk powder products were indirectly affected by this
Incidental Event.

In November 2022, the Ausnutria Group and Gold Nemans entered into a supplemental agreement to the
Original Agreement (the "Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant to which, portion of purchase commitments
for the financial year of 2022 and all of the predetermined purchase commitment for the financial year of
2023 under the Original Agreement are waived.

Subsequent to the Incidental Event, Gold Nemans had additionally paid a sum of approximately
RMB20,149,000 (Note 17) during the year ended 31 December 2022 in order to fulfil the remaining
purchase commitments under the Original Agreement. This batch of milk powder products was delivered
to Gold Nemans during the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “New Batch of Milk Powders”) and the
remaining balance for the New Batch of Milk Powders has also been settled upon the New Batch of Milk
Powders delivered to the Group.

Under the Supplemental Agreement, there is a term which needs Gold Nemans to compensate the
Ausnutria Group on its costs consumed for acquiring raw materials for production of milk powder products
(the "Unavoidable Costs”) upon request. Such term is only applicable to the costs consumed for the
purchased raw materials before cancellation of all purchase commitments.
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22. PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

In October 2023, the Ausnutria Group and Gold Nemans entered into a termination agreement in regarding
to the Orignal Agreement and Supplemental Agreement (the “Termination Agreement"), pursuant to which,
the remaining purchase commitment under the Original Agreement that had not been waived under

Supplemental Agreement are waived. In addition, the Group was released from the Unavoidable Costs
under the Termination Agreement.

Set forth below are the movements of provision on incidental losses on assets arising from sales of milk

powder products based on the sequence of purchase of the committed milk powder products during the
respective reporting period.

Provision
Provision for loss
for allowance
Write-down inventories on deposits
of milk loss on milk paid to the Provision
powder powder Changes in Ausnutria for onerous
products products input VAT Group contracts
(Note i) (Note i) (Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2022 - - - - - -
Movements of incidental
losses for the reporting
period
- Charged to profit or
loss (Note 6(b)) 17,699 20,687 4,990 20,149 17,952 81,477
At 31 December 2022
and 1 January 2023 17,699 20,687 4,990 20,149 17,952 81,477

Movements of incidental
losses for the reporting
period
- Reversal of provision
for inventories loss
on milk powder
products due to
donations - (10,580) (1,375) - - (11,955)
- Reversal of provision
for onerous
contracts (Note
6(b)) - - - - (5,000) (5,000)
- Reversal of provision
for inventories loss
on milk powder
products due to
sales during the

year (Note 6(b)) - (415) (53) - - (468)
- Transfers to write-

down of milk

powder products 3,052 (3,052) - - - -

- Transfers to
provision for
inventories loss on

milk powder

products - 29,203 - (17,830) (11,463) -
- Transfer to reversal

of input VAT - - 3,808 (2,319) (1,489) -
At 31 December 2023 20,751 35,933 7,370 - - 64,054
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22, PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

Provision Provision for
for loss allowance
Write-down inventories on deposits
of milk loss on milk paid to the Provision
powder powder Changes in Ausnutria for onerous
products products input VAT Group contracts
(Note i) (Note i) (Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii) Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2024 20,751 35,933 7,370 - - 64,054
Movements of
incidental losses for
the reporting period
- Reversal of
provision for
inventories loss
on milk powder
products due to
donations - (4,748) (618) - - (5,366)
- Reversal of
provision for
inventories loss
on milk powder
products due to
sales during the
year (Note 6(b)) - (142) (18) - - (160)
- Transfers to write-
down of milk
powder products 58 (58) - - - -
At 30 June 2024 20,809 30,985 6,734 - - 58,528
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22,

PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

0

(if)
(iii)

Included in the Original Batch of Milk Powders, write-down of milk powder products of approximately
RMB17,699,000 (excludes input VAT of approximately RMB2,301,000) was made by the Group for the
obsolesced milk powder products during the year ended 31 December 2022, This write-down was taken
into account the realised revenue from sales of milk powder products of approximately RMB3,628,000
before the Incidental Event and income received of approximately RMB1,338,000 for selling the
obsolesced milk powder products to a milk powder recycler in December 2022,

In addition to the write-down of obsolesced milk powder products of approximately RMB17,699,000,
provision for inventories loss on milk powder products of approximately RMB20,687,000 (excludes input
VAT of approximately RMB2,689,000) was made on the remaining balance of the Original Batch of Milk
Powders during the year ended 31 December 2022. During the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group had transferred provision for inventories loss on milk powder
products of approximately RMB3,052,000 and RMB58,000, respectively, to write-down of milk powder
products and reversed approximately RMB10,995,000 (excludes input VAT of approximately
RMB1,428,000) and approximately RMB4,890,000 (excludes input VAT of approximately RMB636,000),
respectively.

The transfer was due to the milk powder products became obsolesced during the year ended 31
December 2023 and the six months ended 30 June 2024 whereas the amounts reversed of (i)
approximately RMB10,580,000 (excludes input VAT of approximately RMB1,375,000) and of
approximately RMB4,748,000 (excludes input VAT of approximately RMB618,000) during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and the six months ended 30 June 2024, respectively, represented the
donated portion of milk powder products for which the condition of the donated milk podwer products
were categorised as slow-moving due to the Incidental Event instead of obsolesced and (i)
approximately RMB415,000 (excludes input VAT of approximately RMB53,000) and approximately
RMB142,000 (excludes input VAT of approximately RMB18,000) during the year ended 31 December
2023 and the six months ended 30 June 2024 respectively, represented the costs of selling the slow-
moving milk powder products.

Moverover, upon the milk powder products which are recognised under (i) provision for loss allowance
on deposits paid to the Ausnutria Group and (i) provision for onerous contracts were delivered to the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023, the corresponding provisions amounted to
approximately RMB17,830,000 (excludes input VAT of approximately RMB2,319,000) and
RMB11,463,000 (excludes input VAT of approximately RMB1,489,000), respectively, were transferred
to provision for inventories loss on milk powder products as the management of the Group considered
that the sales of these milk powder products were uncertain.

The amount represents the loss allowance made on the deposits paid for the New Batch of Milk Powders.

It represents the unavoidable costs which were non-cancellable costs for which Gold Nemans had the
obligation to settle under the Original Agreement and Supplemental Agreement. The management of
the Group considers the unavoidable costs is the potential net unavoidable costs for the Group to meet
the obligations which exceed the economic benefits expected to be received. Such unavoidable costs
include (i) amount to be paid for the New Batch of Milk Powders of approximately RMB12,952,000
(includes expected input VAT of approximately RMB1,489,000) and (ii) potential compensation to the
Ausnutria Group under the Supplemental Agreement with maximum exposure of RMB5,000,000.

In October 2023, all purchase commitment under the Original Agreement and the Unavoidable Costs of

RMB35,000,000 under the Supplemental Agreement were agreed to be cancelled by the Ausnutria Group
and Gold Nemans,
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DEFERRED TAXATION
At 31 December At 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Deferred tax assets 2,017 23,176 16,850 16,177

The movements in the Group's deferred tax assets were as follows:

Incidental
Provision for losses on
impairment assets
allowances  arising from Accrued
for trade and sales of revenue
other  milk powder Unrealised and
receivables products profit Tax losses costs Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2021 136 - 2,018 - 25 2,179
Income tax credit (expense) 385 - (535) - (12) (162)
At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022 521 - 1,483 - 13 2,017
Income tax credit (expense) (27) 15,369 455 5,337 25 21,159
At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023 494 15,369 1,938 5,337 38 23,176
Income tax credit (expense) 43 (1,359) (1,615) (3,386) (9) (6,326)
At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024 537 14,010 323 1,951 29 16,850
Income tax credit (expense) 61 (1,311) 578 - (1) (673)
At 30 June 2024 598 12,699 901 1,951 28 16,177

At 31 December 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the Group has deductible temporary differences arising
from tax losses of approximately RMB21,348,000, RMB13,704,000 and RMB14,348,000, respectively.

Deferred tax assets were recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. At 31 December 2022 and 2023 and 30
June 2024, deferred tax assets of approximately RMB5,337,000, RMB1,951,000, and RMB1,951,000,
respectively, have been recognised in respect of deductible temporary differences of approximately
RMB21,348,000, RMB7,804,000 and RMB7,804,000, respectively, as it is forecasted that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The remaining deductible
temporary differences of Nil, approximately RMB5,900,000, and RMB86,544,000, respectively, have not
been recognised as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. The deductible temporary differences arising from tax losses can be

offset against future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries for a maximum of 5 years from the period
in which the tax loss was incurred.
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23.

24,

24(a).

24(b).

24(c).

DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Except for withholding taxes on distributed profits of approximately RMB3,575,000 for the years ended 31
December 2021, are recognised for the distribution of accumulated profits under the Group’s PRC entities,
no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payables on the unremitted
earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC at the end of each reporting period. For the
dividends of RMB130,000,000 declared by the Group’s subsidiaries to the Company as disclosed in Note
31 as an event after the reporting period, there were approximately RMB65,529,000 declared by the
Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC to the Company for which were subject to withholding taxes
of approximately RMB6,553,000. Saved as this disclosed subsequent event, the Group made no
distribution of accumulated profit under its PRC subsidiaries during the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2023 and the six months ended 30 June 2024. In the opinion of the management of the Group, the
dividends were an one-off event prior to the Initial Listing and based on the existing circumstances, it is
probable that the remaining earnings from its PRC subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future. The estimated withholding tax effects, excluding the impact of the aforementioned declared
dividends, on the distribution of accumulated profits under the Group's subsidiaries established in the PRC
were approximately RMB23,766,000, RMB29,141,000 and RMB30,851,000 at 31 December 2022 and
2023 and 30 June 2024, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

Share capital
The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on
21 January 2019. At the date of its incorporation, the authorised share capital of HK$380,000 was divided

into 380,000,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.001 each. At the date of this report, 200 ordinary shares were
issued,

Pursuant to the Reorganisation completed on 28 March 2019, the Company became the holding company
of the entities now comprising the Group. Further details of the change in authorised and issued capital of
the Company since its incorporation are set out in the paragraph headed "Reorganisation” of the section
headed “History, Reorganisation and Group Structure” of the Prospectus. ‘

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not commenced any significant business or operation since
its incorporation.

Investment in a subsidiary
Investment in a subsidiary represents 100% of the issued share capital of Hontat Management.

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries were non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.
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24(d).

SHARE CAPITAL AND THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Reserves of the Company

At 1 January 2021

Profit for the year

Transactions with owners:

Contributions and distributions

Dividends (Note 12)

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
Profit for the year

Transactions with owners:

Contributions and distributions

Dividends (Note 12)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
Profit for the year

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

Loss for the period

At 30 June 2024
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Accumulated
profits
(losses)
RMB’000

67

61,949

(61,000)

1,016

50,770

(51,000)

786

699

1,485

(4,219)

(2,734)
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25.

25(a).

25(b).

25(c).

RESERVES

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the aggregate amount of the nominal value of the issued/paid-up capital of the
entities now comprising the Group before completion of the Reorganisation less consideration paid to acquire
the relevant interests (if any) in relation to the Reorganisation.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the Reorganisation and the
translation of foreign operations for consolidation.

Statutory reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for enterprises incorporated/established in the PRC, the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are required to appropriate to the statutory reserve an amount not less
than 10% of the amount of profit after tax (as reported in the respective statutory financial statements of
the PRC subsidiaries prepared in accordance with the PRC accounting regulations). If the accumulated
statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered share capital of the respective PRC subsidiaries, the
subsidiary may not be required to make any further appropriation. The statutory reserve can be used to
make up for losses, expand the existing operation and convert to additional capital.

The accumulated statutory reserves of Rujian International, Gold Nemans and Hontat Nutritional had
reached 50% of their respective registered share capital prior to 1 January 2020 and for Aumay Dairy, the

accumulated statutory reserves had reached 50% of its registered share capital during the year ended 31
December 2021,
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following related parties’ transactions during the Relevant Periods.

(a) Related party transactions of the Group
Transactions between the group entities have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed.
During the Relevant Periods, the Group had the following significant transactions with related parties.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, they are under normal commercial terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the best interests of the Group.

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
Name of the related party Nature of the
transaction RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Chiyunshe Trading (Shanghai)
Company Limited* (“Chl Yun
She Trading") Purchase of
(tE&E 5 ( L) HRAE]) (Note  promotional
i) materials - 496 - - -
Shanghai Kepeng Weishangwu
Consulting Company Limited*
(“Shanghai Kepeng") Provision of
(LR IRAT) promotional . 4 . . .
(Note ii) services Erm—— e —— =] e
Notes:
0] At 31 December 2022, 100% equity interests of Chiyubshe Trading was held by Far- East Fortune.

(ii) At 31 December 2022, approximately 35.46% equity interests of Shanghai Kepeng was held by Far-
East Fortune,

(b) Remuneration for key management personnel (including directors) of the Group:

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, representing amounts paid to the
Company's directors (Note 8) and senior management personnel, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
(Unaudited)
Salaries, allowances,
discretionary bonus, and
other benefits in kind 6,858 6,743 7,690 3,595 1,493
Contributions to defined
contribution plans 339 370 400 208 200
7,197 7,113 8,090 3,803 1,693

For identification purpose only.
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27.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

The Group had the following major non-cash transactions:

(i) During the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the six months ended 30 June
2023 and 2024, lease arrangements in respect of leased assets were entered into with a total
capital value at the inception of leases of approximately RMB1,392,000, RMB9,409,000,
RMB1,838,000, RMB1,799,000 (unaudited) and RMB1,825,000, respectively.

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2022, RMB410,000 arising from acquisition of intangible
assets was not yet due for settlement (Note 13).

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2023, provision for loss allowance on deposits paid to
the Ausnutria Group of approximately RMB17,830,000 and provision for onerous contracts of
approximately RMB11,463,000 were transferred to provision for inventories loss on milk

powder products (Note 22).

(iv) During the year ended 31 December 2023 and the six months ended 30 June 2024, provision
for inventories loss on milk powder products of approximately RMB3,052,000 and RMB58,000
were transferred to write-down of milk powder products (Note 22).

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The movements during the Relevant Periods in the Group'’s liabilities arising from financing activities are

as follows:
Non-cash changes
At Addition of At
1 January Net cash Declaration Lease right-of-use 31 December
2021 flow of dividends  termination assets 2021
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
Year ended
31 December 2021
Lease liabilities 2,019 (2,179) - (5) 1,392 1,227
Dividends payables (27,010) 61,000 - - 33,990
Total liabilities from 2,019 (29,189) 61,000 (5) 1,392 36,217
financing activities . e e e — — ——
Non-cash changes
At Addition of At
1 January Net cash Declaration Lease right-of-use 31 December
2022 flow of dividends termination assets 2022
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
Year ended
31 December 2022
Lease liabilities 1,227 (3,190) - - 9,409 7,446
Dividends payables 33,990 (4,990) 51,000 = - 80,000
Total liabilities from 35,217 (8,180) 51,000 - 9,409 87,446

financing activities
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27.  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (Continued)

Non-cash changes

At Addition of At
1 January Net cash Declaration Lease right-of-use 31 December
2023 flow of dividends termination assets 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Year ended
31 December 2023
Lease liabilities 7,446 (3,454) - - 1,838 5,830
Dividends payables 80,000 (80,000) : 5 2 =
Total liabilities from
financing activities & M —— —- & 5,830
Non-cash changes
At Addition of
1 January Net cash Declaration Lease right-of-use At
2023 flow of dividends  termination assets 30 June 2023
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
Six months ended 30
June 2023
(Unaudited)
Lease liabilities 7,446 (1,693) - - 1,799 7,552
Dividends payables 80,000 ) 7 n - 80,000
Total liabilities from

Non-cash changes

At Addition of
1 January Net cash Declaration Lease right-of-use At
2024 flow of dividends  termination assets 30 June 2024
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
Six months ended 30
June 2024
Lease liabilities — . L I Y | . 1. )
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28,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of cash and cash equivalents, lease liabilities and
dividends payables. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise and maintain finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial instruments such as trade and other receivables,
contract assets and trade and other payables, which arise directly from its business activities.

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

At 31 December At 30 June
2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial assets — at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables 72,780 67,136 73,904 54,857
Contract assets 25,939 28,154 37,056 52,959
Cash and cash equivalents 152,656 192,838 262,560 295,607
251,375 288,128 373,520 403,423

Financial liabilities — at amortised cost
Trade and other payables 33,832 27,796 24,398 21.383
Lease liabilities 1,227 7,446 5,830 6,041
Dividends payables 33,990 80,000 - -
69,049 115,242 30,228 27,424

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group generally adopts conservative strategies on the Group's risk management and limits the
Group's exposure to these risks to a minimum. The management of the Group reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. The Group also monitors the market price risk

arising from all financial instruments.

Foreign currency risk

The Group's transactions are mainly denominated in RMB, US$ and HKS$.

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the respective group entities and therefore exposed to foreign currency risk. The carrying
amounts of those financial assets and liabilities are analysed as follows:

Financial assets

Financial liabilities

At 31 December

65

At 30 June At 31 December At 30 June

2021 12022 2023 2024 2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RMB 4 449 1,718 1,038 - (157) (39) (45)
Uss$ - 3,386 1,934 6,695 - - - -
HK$ 4,108 1,148 4,068 4,283 (257) (996) (3,923) (557)
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28.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)
The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s pre-tax results if exchange rates of RMB,

US$ and HK$ had changed against the functional currencies of the respective group entities by 10% and all
other variables were held constant at the end of each reporting period.

Six

months

ended 30

Year ended 31 December June

2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

+10% 385 383 376 571
-10% 53852 53832 !376! !571!

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the changes in foreign exchange rates had
occurred at the end of each reporting period and had been applied to the Group's exposure to currency risk
for financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant. The stated changes represent management's assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rates over the period until the end of the next reporting period.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk because the exposure at the end of each reporting period does not reflect the exposure
during the Relevant Periods.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the Consolidated Financial Statements, which is net of
loss allowances, represents the Group's exposure to credit risk on these financial assets without taking into
account the credit enhancements.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures and periodic credit evaluations are
performed on these customers. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk from trade receivables by
establishing a maximum payment period of 90 days.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
default risk of the industry and region in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but to a
lesser extent. Credit evaluations focus on the customer's past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, taking into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer operates.

At 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as
approximately 57.3%, 52.2%, 52.4% and 45.2%, respectively, of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest trade debtor and approximately 93.8%, 95.5%, 93.5% and 95.2%, respectively, of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s five largest trade debtors.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

At 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as
approximately 53.3%, 60.8%, 60.1% and 55.4%, respectively, of the total contract assets was due from the
Group’s largest customer and approximately 100%, 100%, 98.3% and 97.3% of the contract assets was due
from the Group's five largest customers.

The Group's customer base consists of a wide range of customers and the trade receivables and contract
assets are categorised by common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers' abilities to pay
all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL for trade receivables and contract assets and recognises loss allowances based on lifetime
ECL at the end of each reporting period on a combination of both individual and collective basis.

Trade receivables and contract assets with known insolvencies, including among others, failure to make
contractual payments and legal actions are taken by other creditors for recovering the amount due from that
customer, are assessed individually for loss allowance and are written off when there is no reasonable
expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows. For the remaining trade receivables and contract assets,
ECL is estimated on group basis based on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for
likelihood of recovery, considering the nature of customers, the geographical locations they operate and the
ageing categories. The contract assets relate to unbilled revenue and have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded

that the ECL rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the ECL rates for the contract
assets.

The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment for assessing ECL on group
collective basis. The expected loss rate used in the provision matrix is calculated for each category based on
actual credit loss experience over the past periods and adjusted for current and forward-looking factors to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group's estimate on future economic conditions over the expected lives
of the trade receivables and contract assets. There was no change in the estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the Relevant Periods.

Considered no significant default history and no forward-looking factors that give rise to significant default risk
on trade receivables and contract assets for balances of both not yet past due and past due below 90 days at
the end of each reporting period, and no material change in the corresponding late payment and default risk
as well as forward-looking factors throughout the Relevant Periods, the management of the Group estimates
that the ECL for those balances is insignificant.
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28, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Trade receivables

The information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables using a provision matrix is
summarised as follows:

Weighted
average ECL Gross
rate carrying Loss Net carrying Credit-
(approximately) amount allowance amount impaired
% RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 31 December 2021
Not yet due 0 28,609 - 28,609 No
1 to 30 days past due 0 3,191 - 3,191 No
31 to 60 days past due 0 656 - 656 No
61 to 90 days past due 0 15 - 15 No
Over 90 days past due 59.3 3,511 (2,083) 1,428 Yes
35,982 (2,083) 33,899
Weighted
average ECL Gross
rate carrying Loss Net carrying Credit-
(approximately) amount allowance amount impaired
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
At 31 December 2022
Not yet due 0 36,582 - 36,582 No
1 to 30 days past due 0 1,025 - 1,025 No
31 to 60 days past due 0 500 - 500 No
61 to 90 days past due 0 384 - 384 No
Over 90 days past due 51.0 3,876 (1,976) 1,900 Yes
42,367 (1,976) 40,391
Weighted
average ECL Gross
rate carrying Loss Net carrying Credit-
(approximately) amount allowance amount impaired
% RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
At 31 December 2023
Not yet due 0 24,772 - 24,772 No
1 to 30 days past due 0 3,813 - 3,813 No
31 to 60 days past due 0 1,495 - 1,495 No
61 to 90 days past due 0 41 - 41 No
Over 90 days past due 90.1 2,387 (2,150) 237 Yes

32,508 (2,150) 30,358

68



Numans Health Food Holdings Company Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and six months ended 30 June 2024

28.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Weighted
average ECL Gross
rate carrying Loss Net carrying Credit-
(approximately) amount allowance amount impaired
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

At 30 June 2024
Not yet due 0 24,835 - 24,835 No
1 to 30 days past due 0 710 - 710 No
31 to 60 days past due 0 1,645 - 1,645 No
61 to 90 days past due 0 253 - 253 No
Over 90 days past due 35.5 6,747 (2,396) 4,351 Yes

34,190 (2,396) 31,794

The Group's ECL for balances over 90 days at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024,
primarily represented the loss allowances arising from a customer who failed to make contractual
payments to the Group and legal actions are taken by the Group and other creditors for recovering the
amount due from that customer. The ECL for the balance arising from this customer was assessed
individually. Except that, the ECL for remaining balances over 90 days past due at 31 December 2021,
2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024 were assessed in collective basis with no significant ECL assigned,
having considered that the overdue was late payment only with no significant default history and no
forward-looking factors that give rise to significant default risk on these trade receivables balances. Given
that, the weighted average ECL rate decreased from approximately 59.3% at 31 December 2021 to
approximately 51.0% at 31 December 2022 was primarily due to the gross carrying amounts of the
balances over 90 days past due were maintained in a relatively stable level at approximately
RMB3,511,000 at 31 December 2021 and approximately RMB3,876,000 at 31 December 2022. The
weighted average ECL rate increased to approximately 90.1% at 31 December 2023 was primarily due
to the gross carrying amounts of the balances over 90 days past due decreased to approximately
RMB2,387,000 at 31 December 2023. The weighted average ECL rate dropped to approximately 35.5%
at 30 June 2024 was mainly due to the increase in the gross carrying amounts of the balances over 90
days past due to approximately RMB6,747,000 at 30 June 2024.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group recognised loss allowances of approximately RMB2,083,000, RMB1,976,000,RMB2,150,000
and RMB2,396,000 on the trade receivables at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024,
respectively. The movements in loss allowances for trade receivables during the Relevant Periods are
summarised below.

Six months
ended 30
Year ended 31 December June

2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

At the beginning of the reporting period 545 2,083 1,976 2,150
Provision for (Reversal of) loss

allowances, net 1,638 (61) 174 246

Amounts written off - (46) - -

At the end of the reporting period 2,083 1,976 2,150 2,396

The following significant changes in the gross carrying amounts of trade receivables contributed to the
increase in the loss allowance:

(@) changes because of financial instruments originated, acquired and derecognised (including those that
were written-off) during the period; and

(b)  modification of contractual cash flows on trade receivables that do not result in the derecognition of those
trade receivables.

Contract assets

At 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the contracts assets of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB25,939,000, RMB28,154,000, RMB37,056,000 and RMB52,959,000, respectively,
were not yet past due. Having considered there was no material change in the late payment and default risk
as well as forward-looking factors of the contract assets throughout the Relevant Periods, the management of
the Group estimates that the ECL for those balances is insignificant.

The Group does not hold any collateral over trade receivables and contract assets at 31 December 2021,
2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other financial assets carried at amortised costs

The Group's other financial assets carried at amortised costs include other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents in the consolidated statements of financial position.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, at banks and assets with similar nature as
cash, of which cash at banks are deposited in major financial institutions located in the PRC and assets
with similar nature as cash are deposited in high creditworthy financial institutions located in the PRC,
which are of high credit rating. The management of the Group does not expect any losses arising from
non-performance by these counterparties.

In estimating the ECL on other receivables, the Group’s management has taken into account the historical
actual credit loss experience over the past years, past collection history, current creditworthiness, adjusted
for forward-looking factors that are specific to the counterparties and general economic conditions of the
industry in which the counterparties operate, in estimating the probability of default of these financial assets,
as well as the loss upon default in each case. There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the Relevant Periods.

Except for the balance of deposits paid to the Ausnutria Group as set out in Note 17, the Group's
management considers that the other receivables have low credit risk based on the borrowers’ strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and low risk of default. The ECL of
other receivables is therefore considered to be negligible and is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects
the short maturities of the exposures.

At 31 December 2022, the Group recognised loss allowances of approximately RMB20,149,000 on
deposits paid to the Ausnutria Group. Such loss allowances on deposits paid to the Ausnutria Group were
further transferred to provision on inventories loss on milk powder products and reversal of input VAT
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The movement in the loss allowances for deposits paid to the
Ausnutria Group (Note 22) is summarised below.

Year ended
31 December
2022 2023
RMB'000 RMB’'000

At the beginning of the reporting period - 20,149
Increase in allowances 20,149 -
Transfer to provision on inventories loss on milk powder products - (17,830)
Transfer to reversal of input VAT - (2,319)
At the end of the reporting period 20,149 -
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28, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility. The Group has
no specific policy for managing its liquidity. The undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the Group's
financial liabilities, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is summarised below:

On
Total demand
Total contractual orless
carrying undiscounted than 1to 2 2to5
amount cash flow 1 year years years
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
At 31 December 2021
Trade and other payables 33,832 33,832 33,832 - -
Lease liabilities 1,227 1,274 1,071 203 -
Dividends payables 33,990 33,990 33,990 - -
69,049 69,096 68,893 203 -
At 31 December 2022
Trade and other payables 27,796 27,796 27,796 - -
Lease liabilities 7,446 8,077 3,065 1,658 3,354
Dividends payables 80,000 80,000 80,000 - -
115,242 115,873 110,861 1,658 3,354
At 31 December 2023
Trade and other payables 24,398 24,398 24,398 - -
Lease liabilities 5,830 6,212 2,618 1,788 1,806
30,228 30,610 27,016 1,788 1,806
At 30 June 2024
Trade and other payables 21,383 21,383 21,383 - -
Lease liabilities 6,041 6,346 3,214 2,100 1,032
27,424 27,729 24,597 2,100 1,032
29. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The management of the Group estimates the fair value of its financial assets and financial liabilities
measurement of amortise cost using the discounted cash flows analysis. The management of the Group
considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated statements of financial position approximate their fair value.
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30.

3.

32.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern and to provide returns for equity owners. The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments, including payment of dividend, call for additional capital from equity owners or sale of assets

to reduce debts. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the Relevant
Periods.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to 30 June 2024, the Group has the following subsequent events:

(i) ~ Subsequent to 30 June 2024, dividends of RMB130,000,000 were declared by subsidiaries of the
Group to the Company and the directors of the Company announced that it had resolved to declare
the payment of a special dividend of RMB110,000,000 to the shareholders of the Company. The
declared dividend of RMB110,000,000 were fully settled prior to 7 December 2024.

(i) Pursuant to the resolution of the Company's sole shareholder passed on 5 December 2024, inter-
alia, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from HK$380,000 to HK$5,000,000
by the creation of an additional 4,620,000,000 shares of HK$0.001 each and the Capitalisation Issue
(as defined below) was conditionally approved.

(iify  Pursuant to the resolution in writing of the Company’s sole shareholder passed on 5 December 2024,
subject to the share premium account of the Company being credited as a result of the offering of
the Company’s shares, the directors of the Company were authorised to allot and issue a total of
749,999,800 shares of HK$0.001 each to the existing shareholders, credited as fully paid at par by
way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$749,999.8 standing to be credit of the share premium account
of the Company (the "Capitalisation Issue") and the shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to this
resolution shall carry the same rights as all shares in issue (save for the right to participate in the
Capitalisation Issue).

REORGANISATION

In preparation for the Initial Listing, the Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the

companies comprising the Group have undergone a group reorganisation to rationalise the Group structure.

The Reorganisation involved the following steps:

1. Acquisition of the entire issued capital of Hontat Nutritional by Numans HK
On 22 October 2018, Far-East Fortune (as vendor) and Numans HK (as purchaser) entered into a sale
and purchase agreement, pursuant to which Far-East Fortune transferred the entire equity interests of
Hontat Nutritional to Numans HK for a consideration of HK$5,000,000 in cash, which was determined
based on the registered capital of Hontat Nutritional.

Subsequent to the transfer, Hontat Nutritional was entirely owned by Numans HK.
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32,

REORGANISATION (CONTINUED)

2

Acquisition of the 31% equity interests in Far-East Fortune by Mr. Wang

Prior to the Reorganisation, Far East Fortune is held as to 40% by Ms. Cui and 60% by Mr. Wang. In
order to rationalise the shareholding percentage between Mr. Wang and Ms. Cui in the Group, on 31
December 2018, Ms. Cui transferred 31% shareholding in Far-East Fortune to Mr. Wang, which is
calculated based on the net asset value of Hontat Nutritional attributable to the Group, at a
consideration of HK$122,000. The transfer was completed on 31 December 2018.

Incorporation of the Company

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 21
January 2019. On the date of its incorporation, the fully paid initial share was issued to Sharon Pierson,
an independent third party, and transferred to Far-East Fortune. The initial authorised share capital of
the Company was HK$380,000 divided into 380,000,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.001 each. On
the same date, Far-East Fortune applied for, and the Company allotted and issued to Far-East 99
shares in the Company fully paid up by cash at par.

As a result of the transfer of the entire issued shares of Hontat Management to the Company as
described in “6. Acquisition of the entire issued capital of Hontat Management by the Company” below,
an additional of 100 shares were allotted and issued, credited as fully paid, to Far-East Fortune on 28
March 2019.

Acquisition of the 15% equity interests in Hontat Management by Mr. Wang

On 27 March 2019, Ms. Wang Jing transferred the legal ownership of 15% shareholding in Hontat
Management to Mr. Wang for nil consideration. Subsequent to the transfer, the trust arrangement in
relation to Ms. Wang Jing holding the interests in Hontat Management as nominee for Mr. Wang
mentioned above has ceased and Hontat Management is wholly owned by Mr. Wang. For the reasons
of the transfer, please refer to the paragraph “Corporate Development — Hontat Management” in the
section headed "History, Reorganisation and Group Structure” of the Prospectus.

Acquisition of the entire issued capital of Numans Sales by Hontat Management

On 28 March 2019, Mr. Wang (as vendor) and Hontat Management (as purchaser) entered into a sale
and purchase agreement, pursuant to which Mr, Wang transferred the entire issued shares of Numans
Sales to Hontat Management in consideration of Hontat Management allotting and issuing 100 shares
to Mr. Wang, credited as fully paid. Subsequent to the transfer, Numans Sales was entirely owned by
Hontat Management.

Acquisition of the entire issued capital of Hontat Management by the Company

On 28 March 2019, Mr. Wang (as vendor) entered into a sale and purchase agreement with the
Company (as purchaser), pursuant to which Mr. Wang transferred the entire issued shares of Hontat
Management to the Company in consideration of allotting and issuing 100 shares, credited as fully
paid to Far-East Fortune. Subsequent to the transfer, Hontat Management is directly and wholly owned
by the Company.
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33. SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
No audited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and/or other applicable

financial reporting standards for the Company or any of its subsidiaries in respect of any period subsequent
to 30 June 2024,
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